
 
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
 

Better Care Fund Joint Management Group 

 

Date and time: Tuesday, 24 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 
Venue: Virtual meeting, Link to the livestream 

https://oxon.cc/BCFund24112020 
 

 
Contact Officer: Julieta Estremadoyro 

Tel: (01865) 816464; Email: 
julieta.estremadoyro@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

Membership 
Chairman – Councillor Lawrie Stratford 

 
Group Members: 

Lorna Baxter Director of Finance, Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) 

Diane Hedges Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive, 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) 

Gareth Kenworthy Director of Finance, OCCG 

Stephen Chandler Corporate Director for Adults Services, OCC 

 

In Attendance 

Ian Bottomley Head of Mental Health & Jointly Commissioning, OCCG 

Julia Boyce Assistant Director of Finance, OCCG 

Karen Fuller Deputy Director for Adult Social Care, OCC 

Rachel Pirie Deputy Director for Commissioning, OCC 

Steve Thomas Performance Information Manager (Social Care), OCC 

Kathy Wilcox Finance Business Partner (Adult Social Care), OCC 

 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/BCFund24112020


 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1. Welcome and Introductions  
14:00 
1 minute 
 
Welcome and Introductions by the Chairman, Cllr Stratford 
 

2. Apologies for absence and temporary appointments  
14:01 to 14:02 
1 minute 
 

3. Minutes and matters arising (Pages 1 - 6) 
14:02 to 14:10 
8 minutes 
 
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting on 22nd September 2020 and 
receive updated to the action log. 
 

4. Finance, Performance & Activity Report  
14:10 to 14:50 
40 minutes 
 
Presented by Kathy Wilcox, Finance Business Partner and Steve Thomas, 
Performance Information Manager (Social Care), Oxfordshire County Council  
 
 

5. Schedule 3 to Section 75 - Contributions and Risk Share 
agreements 2021/21  
14:50 to 15:00 
10 minutes 
 
Presented by Kathy Wilcox, Finance Business Partner, Oxfordshire County 
Council  
 
 

6. Proposed changes to the Section 75 - Update  
15:00 to 15:15 
15 minutes 
 
Presented by Ian Bottomley, Head of Mental Health & Joint Commissioning, 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

7. Variation to section 75 for Hospital Discharge Scheme  
15:15 to 15:30 
15 minutes 
 
Presented by Kathy Wilcox, Finance Business Partner, Oxfordshire County 
Council 



- 2 - 
 

 

8. Funded Nursing Care (FNC) claims update  
15:30 to 15:45 
15 minutes 
 
Presented by Ian Bottomley, Head of Mental Health & Joint Commissioning, 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
 

9. Forward Plan  
15:45 to 15:50 
5 minutes 
 
Suggestions to the Forward Plan 
 

10. Any other Business  
15:50 to 16:00 
10 minutes 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

   

Minutes of the  
BETTER CARE FUND JOINT MANAGEMENT GROUP 

Held on Monday 22nd September 14 to 16 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 

Present: 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford, OCC (Chair) 
Stephen Chandler, Director for Adult Services, OCC 
Gareth Kenworthy, Director of Finance, OCCG 
Rachel Pirie,  Acting Deputy Director Commissioning, OCC 
Kathy Wilcox, Finance Business Partner, OCC 
Karen Fuller, Deputy Director Adult Social Care 
Steve Thomas, Performance Information Manager, OCC 
Ian Bottomley, Head of Older People and Community Services, OCCG 
Julia Boyce, Assistant Director of Finance, OCCG 
Juliet Long, Lead Commissioning Manager Mental Health, OCC 
Kate Gleeson, Strategic Commissioning Manager, OCC 
 
Julieta Estremadoyro, Partnership Board Officer, OCC 
 
Apologies: 
Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance, OCC (Kathy Wilcox was deputising) 
Diane Hedges, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive, OCCG 
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
 
Cllr Stratford welcomed everybody to the meeting 
 

 

2. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments 
 
As per above 
 

 

3. Minutes and Matters Arising  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting on 17th July 2020 were approved  
 
Action Tracker update: 
 
Action from 27 January 2020 
 
Item 4 – Finance, Performance & Activity Report 
 
Discussion re reablement outcomes.  
The JMG agreed to remove this from the action log and return as a Home 
First report. 
 
Item 6 NHS Long Term Plan  
 
Ageing Well 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 3



          

 

Agreed to defer. 
 
From the meeting on 1st June 
Item 4 – Finance, Performance & Activity Report 
4.1 Rachel to follow up the conversation re FNC claims and follow up responses 
outside of the JMG.  
Complete 
 

 
 
 
 
RP/IB 
 
 

4. Finance, Performance & Activity Report 
 
Kathy Wilcox referred to the document Better Care Fund Pooled Budget – 
Outcomes, Outputs and Cost Report Period 5 2020/21 in the agenda pack  
 
Slide 3 – Delivering our priorities - All of them have been affected by the 
pandemic, both in positive and negative ways. The next two slides give more 
details. 
 
“Being part of a strong & dynamic community” is assessed as amber because 
reablement levels are below target. 
 
“Access to information and care” – assessed as red because dementia screening 
is below target. 
 
Comments 
 
Reablement –Discussed at the Urgent Care Working Group, papers to be shared 
with this group. 
 
Stephen added that both reablement and on-going homecare is critical; and 
redesign is crucial to our commitment to ongoing outcome improvement. 
 
Slide 4 and Slide 5 – These support slide 3.  Any queries please refer to Steve 
Thomas. 
 
Adults Over 65 
Slide 7 – Activity Summary – The total number of older people supported in the 
pool has fallen since the beginning of April. This reflects the impact of COVID 19 
but also prevention work and demand management.  There has been an increase 
month to month in the last three months so this needs to be monitored to assess 
what the new equilibrium post COVID will be.   
 
Slide 10 – Average cost appears to reduce from 75 years.   
Action: Steve Thomas to review this to understand why. 
 
Slide 11 – Benchmarking data – South East ADASS are currently collating 
information on performance and hopefully shortly they will be able to produce data 
that can be shared.   
 
Cllr Stratford pointed out that having benchmarking information is helpful as long 
as the benchmarking is done on a like for like basis across similar local 
authorities.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ST 
 

Page 2



          

 

Adults under 65 
Slide 13 – Activity Summary – increase in the number of people since the 
beginning of the year is likely to be impacted by people with high functioning 
autism moved into this pool but this does not account for all the increase.  Rachel 
noted that Commissioning are reviewing what is driving this activity and will 
develop actions as appropriate.  
 
Gareth asked if the risk of COVID 19 have been considered for this group of 
people, particularly in long term care (eg. where someone has been ventilated for 
a long time). This remains under review. 
 
Finance slides: 
Slide 19 and 20 – Summary – Overall, the pool shows an overspend of £2.6m with 
a reduction of £1.1m since the previous forecast. the council elements of the pool 
are forecast break even.  The OCCG elements are showing a significant pressure 
on care homes after taking account of assumptions about CHC people in nursing 
homes transferring back into the pool and increased activity in September. 
 
Caveat that OCCG contributions in the pool need to be confirmed and updated 
ahead of the P7 forecast.  The P6 position assumes the budget of the first 6 
months is replicated in the second half of the year. 
 
Slide 21 – Care Homes – OCC forecast assumes growth of £1.2m for the rest of 
the year this is being reviewed and an update will be included in the P7 position. 
 
On the OCCG side, for over 65 year olds there are 19 new clients and 4 others 
with date extensions. For under 65s there is a net change of one new client and 
one date extension. 
 
Slide 23 and 24 – Hospital Avoidance 
Forecast overspends on home support for both under and over 65 year olds on 
council side is offset by underspend on contingency home care.  Updated 
assumptions about funding for people discharged from hospital during the HDS1 
period. 
 
Overspend on Fast Track is increasing based on current recorded activity. 
 
Slide 25 – COVID 19 
The period covered by the first phase of the Infection Control Grant ends on 30 
September.  The use of the funding by care providers needs to be collated and 
reported to DHSC by 30 September 2020. 
 
A second phase of the Infection Control Grant running from October 2020 to 
March 2021 has been announced.  The council is expecting a share of further 
£563 million but the requirements are to be confirmed. 
 
Slide 26 – Winter Pressures 2020/21.  This now includes an additional £92,000 for 
Home First Discharge Support and £25,000 for communications.  A sub-group of 
the Urgent Care Working Group are considering how to utilise the balance.  They 
will report to the Urgent Care Working Group and then back to JMG. 
 
 

Page 3



          

 

5. Proposed changes to the Section 75 Agreement from 2021/22 
 
Rachel Pirie and Ian Bottomley provided a verbal update. 
 
This arose from earlier conversations about the new governance to support the 
new joint commissioning arrangements going forward. Having reviewed the 
existing Section 75 agreement there are opportunities to review and reflect on the 
new system ways of working with the new team from 2021/22.  
  
JMG members were asked if they are happy for Rachel and Ian to join Elizabeth 
Saunders and work on a proposal regarding the delivering of the new joint 
commissioning functions and bring back recommendations to the JMG.  This is an 
opportunity to look at the work that has been done and look at new ways of 
working. 
 
An updated agreement would also need to reflect on the Home First work, and 
how to describe the expected outcomes.  The current document is from 2013 and 
have had annual amendments and upgrades.  This is a good time to reflect what 
the pool budget is trying to achieve. 
 
JMG agreed with this approach 
 
Action:  Rachel and Ian to work with Elizabeth Saunders on a proposed new 
Section 75 for 2021/22. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RP/IB 
 

6. Hospital Discharge Scheme 1 and 2 
 
Kathy Wilcox referred to the presentation Update on Hospital Discharge Scheme 
1 & 2 in the agenda pack. 
 
The majority of Care Act assessments have been completed as people have been 
discharged from hospital.  However, there are a number of outstanding actions 
required to be able to move people to BAU funding arrangements and CHC 
assessments, which were suspended, need to be completed. 
 
Additional funding is available to support activity needed to complete the CHC 
assessments for people who have been checklisted over the remaining months of 
the year. OHFT will work in conjunction with ASC teams to complete these along 
with any Care Act assessments where people are not CHC eligible. 
 
Action: Kathy to share an update on the number of people discharged by 
month from 19 March to 31 August 2020 and a revised forecast trajectory for 
them to move to BAU funding arrangements.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KW 

7. Proposals around the carers spend  
 
Kate Gleeson and Juliet Long went through the presentation Carer Support Service: 
Review & new model proposals in the agenda pack 
 
Cllr Stratford commented that as people get older, they do not regard themselves 
as carers, wife in regard to her husband and vice versa.  When a carer is not 
registered then if he/she fells ill, ASC would find themselves having to look after two 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



          

 

people instead of one.  There is a need to raise awareness about their carer role. 
They need a fresh look and a fresh appreciation. Particularly, in the last 6 months 
that people have acquire caring responsibilities, including looking after an elder 
neighbour because of COVID 19.  It is fundamental to get the support to carer rights. 
He congratulated Kate Gleeson and Juliet Long on a fantastic piece of work.   
 

8. AOB and items for Forward Plan 
Members were remained the that next meeting on 24th November will be public and 
the agenda need to be ready 10 days in advance.  There will be a live stream link 
in the public website. 

 
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Better Care Fund Pooled Budget

Outcomes, Outputs and Cost Report
Period 7 2020/21

1

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



Outcomes

2

P
age 8



Delivering our priorities

Priority RAG Comment

Being physically and emotionally healthy G

Emergency hospital admissions are better than 

target; lengths of stay are better than target and 

delayed transfer of care are better than target levels

Being part of a strong & dynamic community A

More people are being supported at home with 

higher numbers receiving home care and fewer 

people moving into care homes. 20% of hospital 

discharges at the weekend. 

Reablement levels below contract levels. 

Housing, homes & the environment G
Increase in proportion of people supported at home. 

Higher levels of people feeling safe

Access to information and care R

Dementia screen below target; memory clinics were 

put on hold earlier in the year (Covid), but are now 

up and running. Action plan in place with OHFT and 

primary care. 

3

P
age 9



K
e
y
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s

4

Measures Target
Reporting 

period
Number RAG Comment

Being physically and emotionally healthy

3.7 Reduce the rate of Emergency Admissions (65+) 

per 100,000 of the 65+ population
24,550 Aug-20 23,809 G 2,3809 for August; 20,569 year to date

3.8 90th percentile of length of stay for emergency 

admissions (65+)
18 or less Aug-20 13 G 13 days for August; 12 for year to date

3.9 Reduce the average number of people who are 

delayed in hospital
38 Oct-20 32 G Local report for snapshot at end of October

Housing, homes & the environment

Measures Target
Reporting 

period
Number RAG Comment

Increase from 57% the percentage of older people in 

long term care who are supported to live in their own 

home

57% Aug-20 59.7 % G

3.5 Ensure the proportion of people who use social 

care services who feel safe remains above the 

national average

70% Feb-20 74.1% G Increased by 3% pts in year. Annual figure only

Access to information and care

Measures Target
Reporting 

period
Number RAG Comment

3.15 Increase the estimated diagnosis rate for 

people with dementia
66.7 Jul-20 61.2% R

62.2% for the rolling 12 months. Partly due to 

memory clinics being closed with Covid, but 

was dropping before Covid. Action plan in place

P
age 10



K
e
y
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s

5

Being part of a strong & dynamic community

Measures Target
Reporting 

period
Number RAG Comment

3.1 Increase the number of people supported to leave 

hospital via reablement in the year
Monitor only Oct-20 145 12% below contract levels

3.2 Increase the number of hours from the hospital 

discharge and reablement services per month
Monitor only Oct-20 7,405

Total hours (reablement and contingency) 19% 

below contract level  as fewer people in 

contingency care

3.3 Increase the number of hours of reablement 

provided per month
Monitor only Oct-20 5,316 7.5% below contract levels

3.4 Increase the proportion of discharges (following 

emergency admissions) which occur at the weekend
19% Aug-20 21% G Year to date to August

3.12 Reduce unnecessary care home admissions 

such that the number of older people placed in a care 

home each week remains below the national average

<14 Oct-20 9.4 G 290 admissions to the end of October.

3.13 Increase the Proportion of older people (65+) 

who were still at home 91 days after discharge from 

hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services

85% or more
Oct-Dec 

2019
67.2 R

Figure below national average 82.4 and dropped 

in the year.

3.14 Increase the Proportion of older people (65+) 

who are discharged from hospital who receive 

reablement / rehabilitation services

3.3% or more
Oct-Dec 

2019
1.75 A

Figure increased in the year from 1.7 to 1.75 but 

remains below the national average of 2.8%

3.6 Maintain the number of home care hours 

purchased per week
21,779 Oct-20 24,153 G

P
age 11



Activity and costs:
Better Care Fund 65+

6

P
age 12



Activity Summary 1

1. Only currently includes packages on LAS and ContrOcc. Excludes people placed against Covid budget. All data 

is dependent on timely authorisation of packages and figures may change retrospectively

2. On–going weekly costs only for snapshot at the dates 

3. 88 people are placed out of county.

Start of year (1/4/2020) 

snapshot

Last 3 months

1/9/2020

Last 3 months

1/10/2020

Last 3 months

1/11/2020

People supported in 

the pool 2
4,746 4,522 4,518 4,526

People supported at 

1/4/2020

People supported at 

1/9/2020

People supported at 

1/10/2020

People supported at 

1/11/2020

At home 2,020 2,092 2,106 2,151

Residential 3 2,726 2,430 2,412 2,375

7

P
age 13



Costs and activity

8

P
age 14



Costs and activity

9

Apr-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Sep

%

Oct

%

Nov

%

Apr-20

£

Sep-20

£

Oct-20

£

Nov-20

£

Sep

%

Oct

%

Nov

%

Supported Living 20 13 8 7 -35.0 -60.0 -65.0 723 712 745 758 -1.5 3.0 4.8

Direct Payments 550 492 484 476 -10.5 -12.0 -13.5 394 416 416 417 5.6 5.6 5.8

Day Services 76 67 67 66 -11.8 -11.8 -13.2 141 169 171 172 19.9 21.3 22.0

Residential Care 2726 2442 2431 2394 -10.4 -10.8 -12.2 741 784 788 786 5.8 6.3 6.1

Home Support 1509 1629 1655 1708 8.0 9.7 13.2 280 293 296 293 4.6 5.7 4.6

Shared Lives 2 2 2 2 0.0 0.0 0.0 446 446 446 446 0.0 0.0 0.0

Weekly Unit Cost Change since April 1st

B
C

F
 6

5
+

Number of People Supported Change since April 1st

P
age 15



People in the pool 1/11/2020

Average age = 85

Average cost = £574 pw

10

Residential

Council 3

Health 33

Total 36

P
age 16



Why is the cost falling by age – post 75?

11

65-69 90+

Residential care £1071 £656

Home care £310 £301

Direct payment £436 £476P
age 17



Benchmarking data

• Page suspended – awaiting local ADASS benchmarking

12

P
age 18



Activity and costs:
Adults under 65

13

P
age 19



Activity Summary 1

1. Only currently includes packages on LAS and ContrOcc. Excludes people placed against Covid budget. All data 

is dependent on timely authorisation of packages and figures may change retrospectively

2. On–going weekly costs only for snapshot at the dates

3. 49 people over 65 are coded to this pool and need to be moved over at the end of the year 

4. 43 people are placed out of county (including 1 person funded via both BCF and ASCN budget)

Start of year (1/4/2020) 

snapshot

Last 3 months

1/9/2020

Last 3 months

1/10/2020

Last 3 months

1/11/2020

People supported in 

the pool 2  3
917 915 923 920

People supported at 

1/4/2020

People supported at 

1/8/2020

People supported at 

1/9/2020

People supported at 

1/10/2020

At home 751 763 772 769

Residential 4 166 152 151 151

14

P
age 20



Costs and activity

15

Increase in unit cost of SL in August as:

1. 2 new people one at £7k and one at £3.5k

2. 2 people had increases on £2k and one by £1.5k

P
age 21



Costs and activity

16

Apr-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Sep

%

Oct

%

Nov

%

Apr-20

£

Sep-20

£

Oct-20

£

Nov-20

£

Sep

%

Oct

%

Nov

%

Supported Living 35 43 43 44 22.9 22.9 25.7 1110 1396 1393 1386 25.8 25.5 24.9

Direct Payments 464 441 449 445 -5.0 -3.2 -4.1 400 417 423 422 4.3 5.8 5.5

Day Services 22 27 27 27 22.7 22.7 22.7 136 156 156 156 14.7 14.7 14.7

Residential Care 166 176 176 176 6.0 6.0 6.0 1435 1439 1423 1433 0.3 -0.8 -0.1

Home Support 276 322 326 326 16.7 18.1 18.1 292 301 296 309 3.1 1.4 5.8

Shared Lives 19 17 16 16 -10.5 -15.8 -15.8 440 424 415 415 -3.6 -5.7 -5.7

Weekly Unit Cost Change since April 1st

B
C

F
 <

 6
5

Number of People Supported Change since April 1st

P
age 22



People in the pool 1/11/2020

Average age = 50

Average cost = £644 pw

17

Residential

Direct 

Payments

Supported 

Living Total

Council 3 2 5 10

Health 14 6 20

Total 17 8 5 30

P
age 23



Benchmarking data

• Page suspended – awaiting local ADASS benchmarking

18

P
age 24



Better Care Fund 
Finance slides

19

P
age 25



Better Care Fund 
2020/21 – P7 October 2020

20

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous 

Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Care Homes 84,396 84,493 97 0% 5,267 -5,170

Prevention and Early Support 17,882 17,887 5 0% 168 -163

Hospital Avoidance 94,348 93,031 -1,317 -1% -1,210 -108

Total Expenditure for BCF Pool 196,626 195,411 -1,215 -1% 4,225 -5,440

P
age 26



Better Care Fund 
2020/21 – P7 October 2020

21

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Variation 

Forecast

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous 

Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Oxfordshire County Council

Care Homes 45,231 44,681 -550 -1% -250 -300

Prevention and Early Support 6,486 6,531 45 1% 208 -163

Hospital Avoidance 48,438 48,463 25 0% -226 251

Total Adult Services 100,155 99,675 -480 0% -268 -212

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous 

Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

Care Homes 39,165 39,812 647 2% 5,517 -4,870

Prevention and Early Support 11,396 11,356 -40 0% -40 0

Hospital Avoidance 45,910 44,568 -1,342 -3% -983 -359

Total Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 96,471 95,736 -735 -1% 4,494 -5,229

Total Expenditure for BCF Pool 196,626 195,411 -1,215 -1% 4,225 -5,440

P
age 27



Better Care Fund 
Care Homes Finance Detail October 2020

22

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

CARE HOMES

Older People 40,550 39,172 -1,378 -3% -1,143 -234

Under 65 yr olds 4,681 5,508 827 18% 893 -66

Adult Social Care services 45,231 44,681 -550 -1% -250 -300

Older People 16,895 18,258 1,363 8% 6,470 -5,106

Under 65 yr olds 3,561 4,458 897 25% 875 22

Funded Nursing Care (all ages) 16,595 14,982 -1,613 -10% -1,828 215

Care Home Support Service 1,041 1,041 0 0% 0 0

Proactive Support to Care Homes 1,028 1,028 0 0% 0 0

Transactional Processing 45 45 0 0% 0 0

Health Care services 39,165 39,812 647 2% 5,517 -4,870

SUBTOTAL - CARE HOMES 84,396 84,493 97 0% 5,267 -5,170

P
age 28



Better Care Fund 
Prevention Finance Detail October 2020

23

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

PREVENTION

Telecare Equipment 300 467 167 56% 167 0

Urgent Response 1,221 1,139 -82 -7% -87 5

Extra Care Housing 1,159 1,159 0 0% 0 0

Information & Advice 1,130 950 -180 -16% 0 -180

Day Service Contracts 13 25 12 88% 0 12

Dementia Services 420 420 0 0% 0 0

Home Improvement Agency 534 701 167 31% 167 0

Carers Personal Budget (Adults excluding LD) 204 165 -39 -19% -39 0

Front Door 1,136 1,136 0 0% 0 0

Services to Carers 369 368 -1 0% -1 0

Adult Social Care services 6,486 6,531 45 1% 208 -163

Carers 415 375 -40 -10% -40 0

Memory Service 170 170 0 0% 0 0

Older Adults Mental Health 10,611 10,611 0 0% 0 0

Active Ageing 200 200 0 0% 0 0

Health Care services 11,396 11,356 -40 0% -40 0

SUBTOTAL PREVENTION 17,882 17,887 5 0% 168 -163

P
age 29



Better Care Fund 
OCC Hospital Avoidance Finance Detail August 

2020

24

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

HOSPITAL AVOIDANCE

Short Stay Hub Beds 1,517 1,405 -112 -7% -112 0

Hospital/Reablement Teams 3,819 3,819 0 0% 0 0

Housing Support - Leaving Hospital 200 200 0 0% 0 0

Reablement (HART) 1,361 1,273 -88 -6% -81 -7

Contingency Home Care 1,410 505 -905 -64% -873 -31

Delayed Discharge Fines 68 15 -53 -78% -53 0

Winter Pressures 1,200 1,200 0 0% 0 0

Equipment 2,723 2,631 -91 -3% -146 54

Home Support >65 24,144 24,937 793 3% 320 474

Home Support <65 11,373 11,853 480 4% 718 -238

IBCF 625 625 0 0% 0 0

Adult Social Care services 48,438 48,463 25 0% -226 251

P
age 30



Better Care Fund 
OCCG Hospital Avoidance Finance Detail 

August 2020

25

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Fast Track >65 2,913 3,384 471 16% 998 -526

Fast Track <65 390 450 60 15% 142 -82

Support at Home > 65 3,479 2,997 -482 -14% -403 -79

Delegated Health Tasks > 65 1,471 1,389 -82 -6% 280 -362

Support at Home < 65 4,859 4,090 -769 -16% -1,191 422

Delegated Health Tasks < 65 591 560 -31 -5% -70 39

Short Stay Hub Beds 3,263 3,256 -7 0% -118 111

Community Hospital beds and RACU 19,850 19,850 0 0% 0 0

Hospital at Home 1,153 1,153 0 0% 0 0

EMU (Emergency Multidisciplinary Units) 2,907 2,907 0 0% 0 0

The Falls Service 391 391 0 0% 0 0

Marie Curie Night Service Coordination 36 36 0 0% 0 0

HART 1,483 963 -520 -35% -515 -5

Hospital at Home (PML) 547 547 0 0% 0 0

Hub Beds (OUH) 925 925 0 0% 0 0

Equipment 2,000 2,018 18 1% -105 123

Cont. to Equipment from OCC -381 -381 0 0% 0 0

Transactional Processing 33 33 0 0% 0 0

Health Care services 45,910 44,568 -1,342 -3% -983 -359

P
age 31



Better Care Fund 
COVID-August 2020

26

As at 18th Nov a further £0.172m has been passed onto providers in relation to 

the Infection Control Grant 2, leaving a further £3.863m to be allocated, this is to 

be used in accordance with the grant regulations provided by the Department of 

Health and Social Care. The deadline for this grant to be spent is 31st March with 

monthly updates being provided to the DHSC.

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Total claimed 

as at Period 7

Full Year 

Forecast

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

COVID 19

Covid-19 Response/Sustainability 3,242 3,246 3,246 3,246 0

Covid-19 Home Support Planned Hours 454 516 516 514 2

Adult Social Care services 3,696 3,762 3,762 3,760 2

Supporting Care Homes 0 5,405 5,405 5,875 -470

Supporting Domicillary Care 0 1,466 1,466 1,466 0

External Daytime Support Services 0 369 369 0 369

Infection Control Grant 0 7,240 7,240 7,341 -101

Supporting Care Homes 0 1,826 3,788 0 3,788

Supporting Domicillary Care 0 453 1,263 0 1,263

Other Support 0 0 1,263 0 1,263

Infection Control Grant 2 0 2,279 6,314 0 6,314

Covid-19 - Health Funding HD Discharges 1 0 12,357 14,982 13,337 1,645

Covid-19 - Health Funding HD Discharges 2 0 79 79 0 79

Covid-19 - Health Funding 10% uplift 0 1,191 1,409 1,199 210

Health Care services 0 13,627 16,470 14,536 1,934

P
age 32



Better Care Fund 
Reablement June 2020

27

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Reablement

Hospital Discharge and Reablement 455 364 -91 -20% -134 43

Community Reablement 906 909 3 0% 53 -49

HART (Health) 1,483 963 -520 -35% -515 -5

Total Gross Funding Available 2,844 2,236 -608 -21% -596 -12

Funded by

OCC 1,361 -346

OCCG 1,483 -262

2,844 -608

P
age 33



Better Care Fund 
Equipment June 2020

28

Description of Service

Latest Budget

2020/21

£000

Year End 

Expenditure

£000

Year End 

Variation

£000

Year End 

Forecast 

Variation

% of budget

Forecast 

Variation 

Previous Month

£000

 Change in 

Variation from 

Previous Month

£000

Equipment OCC

Home Improvement Agency 534 701 167 31% 167 0

Telecare Equipment 300 467 167 56% 167 0

Disability Aids and Equipment 364 311 -54 -15% -41 -13

NRS 1,977 1,940 -38 -2% -104 67

Contribution to OCCG Equipment 381 381 0 0% 0 0

Total OCC Equipment 3,556 3,800 243 7% 189 54

Equipment OCCG

OCCG Equipment 2,000 2,018 18 1% -105 123

Contribution from OCC -381 -381 0 0% 0 0

Total OCCG Equipment 1,619 1,637 18 1% -105 123

Total Equipment 5,175 5,436 261 5% 84 177

P
age 34



Better Care Fund 
Equipment Savings achieved October 2020

29

2019/2020 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20
Total 

20/21 YTD

Repose Lite Cushions 49,920 4,540 4,400 Recall 6,220 9,320 7,640 9,060 41,180

61,680 5,300 5,180 7,480 10,660 8,460 10,460 47,540

Easy Roll Slide Sheets 67,981 10,545 8,536 9,007 9986 6,927 6,960 11,243 63,204

71,841 11,677 10,077 9,539 10,496 7,399 7,399 11,877 68,464

Re-use of Specials     

(Cost avoidance) 279,000

Shower Chairs 12, 394 11,073 12,866 14,500 12,300 800 5,100 56,639

Complex Seating 14,135 7,575 2,450 10,500 16,500 11,000 11,360 73,520

Special Slings 1,131 3,780 5,383 8,420 9,000 4,320 4,680 36,714

Moving and handling 12,793 15,939 12,720 7,300 8,400 16400 11020 84,572

New Specials 

Intercepted 10,000 980 1,760 1,187 2,328 6,468 8,214 12,157 33,094

Credit from Recycling 1,614,868 135,410 136,449 160,993 144,614 120,593 140,208 137,171 975,438

2,439,247 196,334 205,433 257,082 227,788 203,074 227,623 216,857 1,534,191

Bold figures are for the Pooled Budget, non-bold are for the 
total contract

P
age 35



Better Care Fund 
Equipment Savings achieved August 2020 – cont’d

30

• Repose Lite cushions: saving made by changing from pump up cushion to pre-filled.  Product recall in June has meant none were 
supplied

• NB Following the product recall, a more costly Repose cushion was provided by the manufacturer, at the same price as the Lite cushion.  
After a clinical trial period, the Lite cushion was reinstated in November 2020.

• Easy Roll Slide Sheets:  saving made by changing from Wendylett Slide Sheets to Easy Roll for some clients

• Re-use of Specials:  these items are not on the equipment catalogue and so do not attract credit when returned.  If they are re-issued, 
there is cost avoidance by not purchasing new items.  Last year's figure covered all items, this year specific costly items have been 
targeted by the ICES team as shown in the table

• New Specials Intercepted:  these are items which were ordered new as there was no used item available prior to placing the order.  The 
order was then scrutinised again at NRS  and an appropriate returned special found

• Credit from Recycling:  items collected from clients which are fit for re-use attract a credit of 80% of the original purchase price.  NRS 
have collected a high level of items so that credit level has been higher than previously

• New workstreams:  new bath lifter with saving of over £100 per unit;  new double slide sheet to replace current special order item (saving 
to be calculated)

P
age 36



Better Care Fund 
Prevention Carers September 2020

At 30th September 2020 919 carers have been assessed, 674

(73%) have received a £300 direct payment , a decrease of 142

compared to the same period last year.

31

P
age 37



Better Care Fund 
Issues and Risks

• Care home placements have dropped significantly since March 2020, the 
forecast  assumes a consistent level of growth for the remainder of the 
year.

• Home support commissioned capacity has increased since March 2020, 
the forecast assumes this level will be maintained for the rest of the year.  
On-going workforce initiatives are intended to encourage more people to 
become care workers so that providers have more capacity. 

• The forecast assumes all service users currently charged against the 
hospital discharge scheme will become a commitment to the pool 
depending on when they were discharged from hospital. 

• HART package completions are below target.

• Current ways of working during Covid-19 may require changes to the 
process for funding and assessment decisions in order to deliver support 
for people and system flow. The scale and duration of this is unknown

32

P
age 38



Section 75 Agreement 2020/21 
 

Schedule 3: Financial Resources 
 
Purchase Contracts 
The details of the Service will be specified in Service Contracts entered into by 
Oxfordshire County Council or where relevant Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group. These will include contracts to purchase 100% NHS health care. 
 
The county council is legally required to set a balanced budget and is working to 
ensure that requirement is balanced with additional costs incurred as a result of 
responding to the pandemic. 
 
The budgeted contributions to the pools are set out below but amendments will need 
to be notified to and agreed by the Joint Management Groups as the year progresses.   
 
A ADULTS WITH CARE & SUPPORT NEEDS POOLED BUDGET 
 

Adults with Care & Support Needs Pooled Budget Contributions 2020/21  
 

 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 

Oxfordshire 
Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group 

Total 

£ £ £ 

Learning Disabilities 90,916,000 14,997,000 105,913,000 

Mental Health 9,432,000 55,200,000 64,632,000 

Acquired Brain Injury 621,000 2,580,000 3,201,000 

Total Gross Contributions 100,969,000 72,777,000 173,746,000 

Less Service User Income -4,277,000 0 -4,277,000 

Net Contribution 96,692,000 72,777,000 169,469,000 

 
In any year the risk share is used to allocate any variation to budgeted expenditure.  
The level of risk varies substantially within the pool as some budgets fund block 
contracts, which are effectively set at a fixed agreed level, while other budgets are 
demand driven and expenditure can vary significantly as a result.   
 
Packages of care for individual service users are subject to the agreed authorisation 
process in each organisation.  
 
Learning Disabilities 
The county council will manage 100% of the variation on budgets for service users 
with a learning disability.    
 
Acquired Brain Injury (ABI) 
Each partner will retain underspends or manage any overspend against their own 
contribution on an aligned basis. 
 
Mental Health 
£1.0m funding within the pool relates to the cost of service users with assessed Mental 
Health needs but who fall outside the scope of the Outcome Based Contract with 
Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust.  The council contribution was reduced by £0.2m 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



CA13 
 
 

to £0.5m in 2019/20 reflecting anticipated improvements to the pathway for these 
service users. 
 
To maintain equity between the partners any overspend against the budget of £1.0m 
up £1.2m will be wholly owned by the county council (as this would only have arisen 
as the council has reduced its contribution by £0.2m).  Any overspend arising from 
spend above £1.2m or underspend arising from spend below £1.0m will be shared 
equally between Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Oxfordshire County 
Council with the intention of working jointly to improve the pathway for these service 
users and reduce the overall spend in the longer run.    
 
The risk of variations on the rest of the budgeted expenditure for Mental Health is 
expected to be very low as the majority of the spend is managed through the Outcome 
Based Contract with Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust which is a block contract. 
Where any variations arise against the other budgets relating to mental health these 
will be met by the County Council. 
 
Changes to the contributions set out above need to be agreed in accordance with the 
governance arrangements of each organisation and by the Joint Management Group. 
 
B  BETTER CARE FUND POOLED BUDGET 
 
 Better Care Fund Pooled Budget Contributions and Risk Share 2020/21
  

 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 

Oxfordshire 
Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group 

Total 

£ £ £ 

Older People 84,860,500 69,175,000 154,035,500 

Physical Disabilities 17,804,900 10,401,000 28,205,900 

Better Care Fund 
Expenditure 

25,012,000 
 

16,895,000 41,907,000 

iBCF Grant Funded 
Expenditure 

10,391,000 0 10,391,000 

Total Gross Contributions 138,068,400 96,471,000 
 

234,539,400 

iBCF Grant Funding -10,391,000 0 -10,391,000 

Less Service User Income -32,917,600 0 -32,917,600 

Net Contribution 94,759,800 96,471,000 191,230,800 

 
iBCF grant funding will be utilised within the pool in line with the agreed plan with 
separate updates to the Joint Management Group setting out the use of the funding 
and outcomes achieved.  
 
Expenditure in the pool eligible to be funded through the Hospital Discharge Scheme 
1 or 2 will be reported separately and funded by OCCG. 
 
Each partner will retain underspends or manage any overspend on their element of 
the Pool and, subject to the governance arrangements in the respective organisation, 
can amend their contribution as they wish in 2020/21.    

Page 40



CA13 
 
 

 
One off funding 
£0.850m held in reserves as agreed at the end of 2019/20 is available to support health 
pressures in the pools on a one – off basis. 
 
A further £0.502m held in reserves since the end of 2019/20 has been used to support 
mental health priorities within the pool in 2020/21. 
 
Timing of Payments 
 
Oxfordshire County Council and Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group will make 
monthly payments to each of the pooled funds and to each other for services 
commissioned on their behalf, subject to receipt of an invoice, unless agreed 
otherwise. Regular contributions between the partners will be paid monthly, one month 
in advance, on receipt of an appropriate invoice. 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

S75 NHS Act 2006: proposals for review of current agreement 

Purpose of this Paper 

1. This paper sets out for the Better Care Fund [BCF] and Adults with Support Needs [ASN] joint 

management groups [JMG] a proposed route to review the current s75 NHS Act 2006 agreement 

between OCC and OCCG. 

2. The current agreement was signed in 2013 and has been agreed and/or varied annually by 

agreement since that time. In the light of the development of the new Health, Education and 

Social Care [HESC] Joint Commissioning model across OCC and OCCG it seems to be an 

appropriate point for a substantial review of the current arrangements to  

a. Agree the scope, objectives, and planned outcomes to be delivered by the s75 

agreement going forward from April 2021 

b. Agree the financial contributions and approach to risk share between OCC and OCCG 

c. Agree the governance structure to manage these arrangements and provide assurance 

to both organizations 

3. There are a number of key dependencies that impact on this proposed process 

a. The impact of the covid-19 pandemic; specifically the revised financial regimes for both 

NHS and County Council mean that the contributions and budgets for 2020/21 are only 

now to be confirmed in the current cycle of JMG meetings 

b. The HESC Joint Commissioning model is to be delivered by a revised organizational 

structure. This is currently subject to formal consultation with staff and which will not 

confirm those arrangements until 30 November 2020.  

c. As part of the new HESC structure, a new Joint Commissioning Executive will be formed 

in shadow through until March 2021.  

d. The Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board in December will be asked to endorse the 

development and implementation of the HESC Joint Commissioning model and, by 

implication endorse this review of the current s75 arrangements 

4. In view of these dependencies JMG is asked at this point to  

a. approve a approach to the review of the current s75 agreement 

b. agree the process to be followed to report back to JMG 

c. endorse the direction of travel set out in the HESC Joint Commissioning Structure for 

Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board   

d. to delegate responsibility to proceed with this review as set out below 

Background: current s75 arrangements and HESC Joint Commissioning Proposal 

5. The current s75 arrangements date from April 2013 with the establishment of OCCG in 

succession to the Primary Care Trust. The previous several agreements were consolidated into 

one s75 agreement with two pooled budgets 

a. The Better Care Fund designed to support predominantly with older people and people 

with long-term physical disability 

b. Adults with Support Needs supporting people with mental health problems (Children 

and adults up to the age of 65), people with learning disability and/or autism and people 

living with acquired brain injury 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

6. The two pools have reported to the Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board on a suite of 

measures required by the Better Care Fund, the Adult Social Care Framework, the Transforming 

Care programme for people living with learning disability and/or autism and the Five Year 

Forward View for Mental Health and other national and local policies.  

7. The pooled budget approach has been successful in supporting strong relationships across NHS 

and social care in Oxfordshire, and during the lifetime of this project there have been a number 

of key improvements such as  

a. The expansion of the governance of the pools to include Clinical Leads  

b. The creation of a number of joint officer posts. These have in turn supported such 

initiatives as  

i. Reduction of delayed transfers of care from hospital with the creation of 

integrated step down beds and the integrated team that oversees them 

ii. a joint approach to the assessment and support for carers; 

iii. a jointly funded dementia support service;  

iv. the development of alternatives  to hospital for people with learning disability 

and/or autism and with severe mental illness;  

v. increased support to people living with autism in the community.  

c. Overall these joint approaches have enabled Oxfordshire to address many of the 

operational and commissioning interface challenges that face other systems (eg around 

Continuing Healthcare or responsibility for hospital discharge). It is probably true to say 

that this contributed significantly to our local response to the covid pandemic.  

8. That said, there have been a number of challenges that the current pooled budgets have not 

been able to address fully: for instance 

a. we still do not always and routinely build care around the individual first and resolve 

funding afterwards;  

b. we have not been able fully to integrate spend to mitigate system risks;  

c. we have not managed to combine commissioning leverage to manage and develop the 

market to provide what is needed;  

d. when working in an integrated way with provider partners we have more work to do to 

integrate the benefits of effective  commissioning  in provider delivery 

e. we do not yet achieve a consistently enabling, preventative approach to care delivery 

through our commissioning. 

9. OCC has undertaken a review of its Provisioning Cycle and together with the CCG has developed 

the new HESC Joint Commissioning model across Public Health, Health, Education and Social 

Care. This model will deliver 

a. A more strategic approach to commissioning 

b. Greater integration of joint commissioning via a life course and tiers of need approach to 

provide co-produced personalised care 

c. A more preventative approach 

d. Greater market shaping 

e. An end to silos and duplication 

10. This model is set out at Appendix 1. This approach offers an opportunity and a context for the 

review of the current s75 agreement. It is recommended therefore that the review of the s75 

agreement should proceed with a view to supporting the establishment of this new model.  

Page 44



3 
 

 

 

Review of the s75: scope and process 

11. It is proposed that the review of the s75 runs in parallel to the development and implementation 

of the HESC joint commissioning model to deliver   

a. An interim report to JMG in January 21 covering scope, delegations, governance and 

draft plan for 2020/21 for recommendation to OCC Cabinet and OCCG Board 

b.  A final report with draft s75 agreement and schedule of financial contributions and risk 

management approach in March 21  

12. There are a number of key areas that will need to be addressed in the interim report 

a. The scope of the revised joint arrangements and in particular those national and local 

strategic priorities that will be delegated to the joint commissioning structure 

b. The resources that will need either to be pooled and/or otherwise aligned to support 

delivery of these priorities 

c. The governance arrangements to assure delivery of the plan and the oversight of the 

resources 

d. The opportunities to expand these joint arrangements in the future, and a roadmap that 

positions the joint commissioning arrangements in terms of the local and regional 

architecture (eg development of Integrated Care Partnership) 

e. The relationship of the JCE to the developing Integrated Care Partnership  

13. A key deliverable of the joint commissioning plan is the establishment of a Joint Commissioning 

Executive [JCE] to set the strategic approach and provide assurance to OCC and OCCG for the 

investment and delivery of the plan. The JCE is proposed to include  

a. the Directors of Adults and Housing Services; Public Health and Wellbeing; Children; 

Finance from OCC 

b. the Deputy CEO, Director of Finance and two Clinical Directors from OCCG 

c. The JCE will be set up in shadow to oversee the new structures and develop the system 

plan during the period to March 2021. From April 2021 it could become the JMG for the 

future s75 agreement. This should be evaluated as an option as part of this process.  

14. It is recommended that an interim report is brought to JMG in Jan 2021 

Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board [HWB] 

15. The proposal to proceed with the new HESC joint commissioning structure is to be considered by 

the Oxfordshire HWB at its meeting in December 2020. JMG is asked to approve the direction of 

travel set out in the HESC Joint Commissioning plan and confirm for HWB that the review of 

the current s75 will be carried out to support the implementation of the new structure. 

Delegated authority 

16. As noted above the JCE will be set up in shadow form to oversee the development and 

implementation of the HESC joint commissioning structure ahead of formal commencement. 

There is also a HESC steering group that is managing the detail of the development.  

Page 45



4 
 

17. Both the Director of Housing and Adults (OCC) the Deputy Chief Executive Officer (OCCG) will sit 

on the shadow JCE and are part of the Steering Group. It is recommended that JMG delegates 

authority to these Directors to proceed with the review on behalf of JMG and provide the 

interim and final reports as indicated at para 11 above. JMG is asked to confirm any specific 

parameters to this delegation.  

 

Summary of recommendations for decision 

18. It is recommended therefore that the review  of the s75 agreement should proceed with a view 

to supporting the establishment of this new model 

19. It is recommended that an interim report is brought to JMG in Jan 2021 

20. JMG is asked to approve the direction of travel set out in the HESC joint commissioning plan and 

confirm for HWB that the review of the current s75 will be carried out with a view to supporting 

the implementation of the new structure. 

21. It is recommended that JMG delegates authority to the DASS OCC and DCEO OCCG to proceed 

with the review on behalf of JMG and provide the interim and final reports as indicated at para 

11 above.  

Ian Bottomley 

OCCG 13/11/2020 

 

 

 

Page 46



Health, Education and Social 

Care (HESC) 

Transformation of Commissioning

Joint Commissioning Executive (JCE) 

Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning 

Group (CCG)

Oxfordshire County 

Council (OCC) 

P
age 47



AGREED 

ORGANISATION 

DESIGN

OPTION 1B – COVERS 

LIFE STAGES AS 

PRIMARY LENS 

JOINT POSTS 

THROUGHOUT THE 

STRUCTURE WITH 

MAXIMUM NUMBERS 

DEPUTY DIRECTOR –

JOINT POST MANAGED 

WITHIN THE COUNCIL 

LEAD COMMISSIONERS 

FOR START WELL, LIVE 

WELL AND AGE WELL 

(LIFE STAGES MODEL) 

JOINT COMMISSIONING 

MANAGERS FOR PROMOTE 

& PREVENT, IMPROVE & 

ENABLE, AND  SUPPORT & 

PROTECT (TIERS OF NEED 

MODEL) 

POOL OF 

COMMISSIONING 

OFFICERS – ALL JOINT 

INCLUSION OF 

STRATEGY AND 

INNOVATION 

THE “RIGHT SIZING” OF QUALITY 

IMPROVEMENT, STRATEGIC 

COMMISSIONING AND BROKERAGE 

FUNCTIONS 

P
age 48



Design of the Health, Education and Social Care 

Commissioning Function 

Promote and Prevent

Improve and Enable

Support and Protect

Good Start in 

Life strategy
Living well 

strategy

Ageing well 

strategy

An organisational model that aligns resources to three tiers of 

need and life stage approach – start well, live well and age well 

to support a focus on outcomes.

Organisational Model Organisational Design

Commissioning - Lead commissioners for each tier 

of need, supported by Commissioning Managers for 

each life stage. Pool of Commissioning Officers 

work on commissioning priorities in matrix 

management arrangement.

Quality & improvement - Each tier of need has a 

responsible Q&I Manager, who also line manages 

Q&I Officers for that particular tier.

Responsible for contract management, 

governance, assurance, market risks and resilience.

Brokerage - Brokerage Lead oversees two teams -

one Children’s, one Adults - for all placements for 

children and vulnerable adults. Opportunity for 

SEND placements to be further explored.

Key changes to current ways of working

Tiers of need model and life 

stage approach drives focus 

on outcomes 

Flexible resource to work on 

commissioning priorities, 

with portfolio of specialisms 

ensuring points of contact for 

key topics.

Opportunity for more 

joint commissioning and 

alignment across local 

Health and Care services.

Places greater focus on 

strategic commissioning, 

rather than contract 

management.

3

P
age 49



THE BENEFITS OF THIS MODEL

The new organisation model 

will result in more strategic 

commissioning across the 

council and the CCG and will 

deliver better outcomes for the 

people of Oxfordshire

This revised model will 

facilitate stronger market 

shaping and build greater 

resilience, quality and value in 

services

This model design has 

enhanced the opportunities 

within the health system to 

secure additional joint 

commissioning arrangements 

This new design will address 

silos and avoid duplication in 

commissioning and will assist 

with recruiting the right 

people to the right places with 

the right skills.

P
age 50



What will we have transformed from this Organisation Design?

We have defined what good looks like and how we will know we have succeeded in 

transforming commissioning, tailored for Oxfordshire from the LGA framework -

‘Integrated Commissioning for Better Outcomes’

A person-centred, place 

based and outcomes 

focused approach

Stronger and connected 

commissioning across 

the whole HESC system 

in Oxfordshire

The right roles and 

responsibilities to meet 

needs, and people are 

supported to deliver 

their jobs effectively

Services are shaped by 

working with the market, 

becoming more resilient, 

providing better services 

and improving outcomes 

for local people

Collaboration within each 

part of our organisations 

and wider partners to 

enable consistent and 

impactful commissioning 

across the whole cycle

Makes best use of 

resources to deliver 

quality and value of 

services

Strong relationships 

between service users, 

providers, operational 

services and 

commissioners delivering 

person-centred services

Continuously improving 

so we can be even more 

ambitious for our 

organisations, people 

and place in the future

5

P
age 51



DELIVERING 
OUR AMBITION 
THROUGH 
EFFECTIVE 
GOVERNANCE 

With our revised organisational design and 

model, what are we trying to deliver for the 

ICP and whole system? 

What are the enablers?

How are we putting people, users, carers and 

patients at the core of all activities? 

How are we measuring our progress? Are we 

ensuring prevention and tackling inequalities is 

at the core of our offer? 

What are the resources that are needed?

Are we making the best use of all the resources 

available to us?

P
age 52



 

Amendment, by deed of variation dated 24 November 2020, to the 
Section 75 NHS 2006 Partnership Agreement dated 23 April 2013 

between Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Oxfordshire County Council in respect of Hospital Discharge 

Scheme 2 during the COVID-19 Emergency Period from 1 
September 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) and Oxfordshire County 

Council (OCC), the partners, entered into a Section 75 NHS 2006 Partnership 
Agreement from 1st April 2013. This agreement has been extended to run 
until 31st March 2021. The agreement covers two pooled budgets, namely the 
Better Care Fund pool (BCF) and the Adults with Care and Support Needs 
pool (ACSN). This amendment covers the BCF pool only. 

 
1.2 In response to the global Covid-19 pandemic the Government has issued 

updated Covid-19 Hospital Discharge Service Requirements setting out the 
work that organisations are expected to undertake to mitigate pressure on 
NHS resources, and specifically hospital beds.  

 
1.3 Updated arrangements for Hospital Discharge Scheme 2 (HDS2) from 1 

September 2020 to 31 March 2021 were set out in NHSE/I guidance 
published on 21 August 2020.  

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/hospital-discharge-service-guidance 

This sets out how health and care systems can ensure that people: 

 are discharged safely from hospital to the most appropriate place 

 continue to receive the care and support they need after they leave 
hospital 

1.4 Continuing from the original Hospital Discharge Scheme 1 discharge 
guidance, acute and community hospitals must discharge all patients as 
soon as they are clinically safe to do so in accordance with the ‘Discharge 
to Assess’ model. 
   

1.5 To enable this, on-going care and support needs for anyone being 
discharged from hospital without an existing care package will be provided 
free of charge for up to six weeks for the duration of the scheme to allow 
for post-discharge recovery and support services, and any assessments of 
ongoing care needs and financial eligibility determinations to be made.   

 
1.6 HDS2 funding can only be used to fund activity related to the scheme that 

is over and above the activity normally commissioned by CCGs and local 
authorities.  

 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/hospital-discharge-service-guidance


 

2. Individual Scheme              Specifications 
 

2.1 The partners agreed to commission 18 beds in a designated setting on 5 
November 2020 for people who are Covid-19 + valued at £248,300 for 12 
weeks.   If the contract is extended for a further 12 weeks, the total value will 
be £529,100. 
 

2.2 The on-going requirement for these additional commissioned services will be 
monitored and agreement to end these arrangements will be made jointly by 
the partners. 

 
3. Governance 
 
3.1 The Host Partner for the BCF Pooled Budget is the Council and the Pooled 

Budget Manager is the ‘Acting Deputy Director (Commissioning)’. 
 

3.2 The ‘Acting Deputy Director (Commissioning) is the Hospital Discharge 
Scheme manager. 

 
3.3 The financial governance arrangements for HDS2 shall be 

conducted/managed in accordance with those set out for the current Section 
75 BCF Pooled Budget.  

 
3.4 HDS2 shall form a part of the Section 75 Better Care Fund Pooled budget 

and as such will be subject to the same management rules as the wider pool.  
  

3.5 Any costs associated with HDS2 should be transparent, auditable and 
traceable back to individual patients, schemes listed in Section 2 or any other 
costs that are jointly agreed to have arisen as a result of the scheme. 

 
4. Application of the Hospital Discharge Scheme 2 in Oxfordshire 

 
4.1 The HDS2 guidance instructs that the majority of patients should be 

assessed under the Care Act or for Continuing Health Care (CHC) outside of 
an acute setting.  They will be eligible for up to 6 weeks of non - 
chargeable care until the assessment takes place.    
 

4.2 All Care Act and CHC assessments are expected to take place within 6 
weeks of hospital discharge and preferably sooner. In Oxfordshire the 
intention is for the assessments to be completed concurrently so that 
the Care Act assessment will be completed at the same time if someone 
who checklists in is not assessed to be CHC eligible. 

 
4.3 Anyone who receives a Care Act Assessment confirming long term care 

needs prior to discharge from hospital (noting that assessment in hospital will 
continue in Oxfordshire so the vast majority of people will receive an 
assessment there) will be funded by the council and be chargeable for their 
care as usual. 

 
4.4 If we have been unable to assess someone’s needs in hospital and have 

Page 54



 

placed them in either an OCC purchased interim bed or other OCC funded 
temporary service (live in/domiciliary care etc) outside of BAU commissioned 
services, these people will be eligible for funding through HDS2 until their 
assessment is complete up to a maximum of six weeks 

 

4.5 Where a service user passes away within 6 weeks of admission to an interim 
bed or temporary service, and they have not yet received a valid Care Act 
Assessment those costs will be met by HDS2. 

 
4.6 Patients who receive a Care Act Assessment from RoT following a period of 

reablement with HART will be funded by the council and become chargeable 
from the date of the assessment.  

 
4.7 If someone is check listed into a full CHC assessment the costs of any newly 

commissioned care up to that point (to a maximum of six weeks) will be met 
by HDS2.  

 
4.8 Restarts: people who return to an existing package of care following 

discharge will return to their normal business as usual funding arrangements 
and as such no element will be funded by the HDS2 scheme.  

 
4.9 Admission Avoidance: where someone attends A&E but were not admitted to 

a ward due to actions taken by social work and other colleagues the cost of 
the emergency care put in place will be covered by HDS2 for up to 6 weeks. 

 
4.10 Self – Funders: Where people identify themselves as self – funders they will 

receive assessments and support to access the care they are privately 
funding.  On rare occasions where it is necessary to access a funded bed for 
this group to enable the assessment and ongoing discussion to take place 
the date that the care should be charged from needs to be agreed with the 
individual.  Any costs up to that date should be met by HDS2. 

 
4.11 COVID-19 Isolation Periods: DHSC/PHE policy is that people being discharged 

from hospital to care homes are tested for COVID-19 in a timely manner ahead 
of being discharged (as set out in the Coronavirus: adult social care action plan), 
regardless of whether they were residents of the care home previously or not. 
Where a test result is still awaited, the person will be discharged if the care home 
states that it is able to safely isolate the patient as outlined in Admission and 
Care of Residents in a Care Home guidance. If this is not possible then 
alternative accommodation and care for the remainder of the required isolation 
period needs to be provided by the local authority, funded by HDS2.  One to one 
costs associated with isolation may also be covered by the scheme. 

 
4.12 Where the council has commissioned, and is continuing to pay for, additional 

beds to enable discharge and these are not being utilised, the cost of those 
beds will be met by HDS2 until there are no further costs being incurred. 

 
Week 7 Onwards 

4.13 Assessments are expected to be completed within six weeks but if a decision 
about the on-going care needs is not reached by then, the on-going costs from 

Page 55



 

week 7 will be allocated according to what point in the assessment process has 
been reached by the end of the six weeks of care, as follows:  

 

 Where the NHS CHC or NHS funded-nursing care (FNC) assessments 
are delayed, the CCG remains responsible for paying until the NHS 
CHC/FNC assessment is done.  

 After this, where the individual is assessed as not eligible for NHS CHC, 
responsibility for funding will sit with the local authority in line with 
existing procedures until the Care Act Assessment is completed, after 
which normal funding routes will apply. 

 Where a Care Act assessment is delayed the council remains 
responsible for paying until that assessment is completed. 

 
5. Finance 

 
5.1 The costs involved in running HDS2 are likely to  be reimbursed in arrears by 

the Department of Health (DoH) on receipt of valid monthly submissions via 
the normal monthly reporting route. 
 

5.2 Monthly submissions for reimbursement are made by the CCG and it is 
expected that an allocation will be received in the following month. This 
funding will be reconciled to the costs incurred by each organisation in order 
to correctly reimburse them for costs incurred.  Costs will be logged as: 

 

 Support provided at individual service user level  

 Other block purchased resources developed to manage the COVID-19 

crisis 

5.3 The CCG will reimburse the council the relevant amount each month following 
submission of an appropriate invoice. 
 

5.4 Where the situation arises that costs submitted for reimbursement are 
challenged and subsequently not reimbursed by the NHS, the partners will 
need to decide how to apportion these costs taking into account the premise 
that costs were incurred in good faith.     

 
5.5 The council shall ensure that: 

5.5.1 all support provided under the Covid-19 HDS2 is recorded at 
individual level; 

 
5.5.2 all costs funded through HDS2 are recorded at individual level except 

for the cost of unoccupied beds agreed to be contracted to enable 
discharges. 

 
5.5.3 All monitoring and/or reporting information required by the CCG to 

report to NHSE&I or the Department of Health and Social Care is 
provided to the CCG in time to comply with reporting deadlines and 
within 2 full working days of any notified submission date.  

 

Page 56



 

5.5.4 The majority of the payments will be made by the Council but where 
payments relating to HDS2 are made by the CCG, or other 
organisations, these charges will be included within the Pooled 
Budget. 

 
5.5.5 Costs associated with HDS2 will feature within the monitoring reports 

which will continue to be produced monthly by OCC finance 
colleaguesto the same deadlines. All reports should be received in line 
with the agreed reporting timetable. 

 
6 Reporting 

 
6.1 HDS2 will be reported as part of the BCF pooled budget, all costs associated 

with it will be separately identified and reported in a separate memorandum 
note. 

 
6.2 It is proposed that the current service lines be used where this is possible but 

that where new services are being paid for that these are shown as new 
costs. 

 
6.3 All costs should be able to be evidenced and substantiated should this 

information be audited.  
 

6.4 Costs should be identifiable to individual patients although this might not be 
possible in all cases – for example where beds have been purchased but 
were not subsequently needed. 

 
6.5 BCF pool budget reporting will be completed by the council in line with usual 

reporting processes. In order to meet the DoH submission deadlines for 
reimbursement the reporting for the HDS2 will need to be earlier and the 
information will need to have been received by CCG colleagues by 2 working 
days in advance of any submission deadline. There may be instances where 
not all information is available or accurate at the point of the relevant claim. 
Where amendments are needed in subsequent months these will be recorded 
accurately to ensure only valid claims are made. 

 
6.6 It will be important to be clear about which organisation has incurred the 

costs. 
 

7 Ending of the Hospital Discharge Scheme 2 
 
7.1 HDS2 runs until 31 March 2021.  Further guidance on the arrangements for 

the completion and wind down of the scheme in April-May 2021 will be 
required where the period of eligibility continues from a March 2021 
discharge. 

 
 
 
 

*ENDS* 

Page 57



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This document is to formally record the parties’ agreement to the amendment. 
 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Oxfordshire County Council hereby 
agree that the Amendment shall be deemed to have been agreed on the same terms 
and conditions, unless otherwise stated, subject to further Government guidance or 
any other changes that may be agreed by both parties through appropriate decision-
making arrangements. 
 
This amendment will take effect from 19th March 2020 and will run until advised. 
 
Signed on behalf of Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
 
Name 
Role 
Date 
 
 
Signed on behalf of Oxfordshire County Council 
 
 
Name 
Role 
Date 
 
 

Page 58


	Agenda
	3 Minutes and matters arising
	4 Finance, Performance & Activity Report
	5 Schedule 3 to Section 75 - Contributions and Risk Share agreements 2021/21
	6 Proposed changes to the Section 75 - Update
	Item 6.2 - s75 paper for JMG Nov 20-Appendix 1

	7 Variation to section 75 for Hospital Discharge Scheme

